1184 FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION DECISIONS
Complaint 87 F.T.C.

In THE MATTER OF

SIMEON MANAGEMENT CORPORATION, ET AL.

ORDER, OPINION, ETC., IN REGARD TO ALLEGED VIOLATION OF
SECS. b AND 12 OF THE FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION ACT

Docket 8996. Complaint, Oct. 15, 1974—Final Order* April 29, 1976

Order requiring five independent California weight reduction clinic operators, among
other things to cease failing to make conspicuous disclosure statements in
advertising, and to potential purchasers that drugs used in weight reducing
programs have not been approved by the Food and Drug Administration as safe
and effective for weight control; drugs do not cause more attractive
redistribution of weight; and treatment required adherence to a 500 calorie daily
diet.

Appearances

For the Commission: Alfred Lindeman, Harvey M. Freed and Paul
D. Hodge.

For the respondents: Grayson & Gross, Los Angeles, Calif., for
Simeon Management Corporation, John D. Howell, Simeons Weight
Clinics Foundation, Robert Van Dine, J. William Byrd and Medical
Weight Loss, Inc. Robert M. Aran, Beverly Hills, Calif., for Darrel P.
Simpson. David L. Cumningham, Sausalito, Calif., for Bariatric
Medical Clinics Management Corporation and David L. Cunningham.
Lee Shaw, San Diego, Calif., for Harvey J. Lobelson and Weight
Reduction Medical Clinic. Cooper & Scarpulla, San Francisco, Calif.,
for C.M. Noreal, Inc., HCG Weight Clinics Foundation, Peter J.
Marengo, I1I and Joseph Costa.

Complaint
COMPLAINT

Pursuant to the provisions of the Federal Trade Commission Act,
and by virtue of the authority vested’in it by said Act, the Federal
Trade Commission, having reason to believe that Simeon Management
Corporation, a corporation, and John D. Howell, individually and as
principal investor in Simeon Management Corporation; Simeons
Weight Clinics Foundation, a corporation, and Robert Van Dine and J.
William Byrd, individually and as officers of Simeons Weight Clinics
Foundation; Medical Weight Loss, Inc., a corporation, and Darrel P.
Simpson, individually and as an officer of Medical Weight Loss, Inc.;
Bariatric Medical Clinics Management Corporation, a corporation, and
David L. Cunningham, individually and as an officer of Bariatric

* Reported as corrected by Commission order dated July 7, 1976.
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Medical Clinics Management Corporation; Harvey J. Lobelson, an
individual doing business as Weight Reductioii Medical Clinic; C. M.
Norcal, Inc., a corporation, HCG Weight Clinics Foundation, a
corporation, and Peter J. Marengo, I1I and Joseph Costa, individually
and as officers of C. M. Norcal, Inc. and HCG Weight Clinics
Foundation, hereinafter referred to as respondents, have violated the
provisions of said Aect, and it appearing to the Commission that a
proceeding by it in respect thereof would be in the public interest,
hereby issues its complaint stating its charges in that respect as
follows:

ParacrapPH 1. (A) Respondent Simeon Management Corporation is a
corporation organized, existing and doing business under and by virtue
of the laws of the State of California, with its principal office and place
of business located at 7712 Densmore Ave., Van Nuys, California.

Respondent John D. Howell is the principal investor in said corporate
respondent Simeon Management Corporation, which has not yet
named officers and directors or issued stock. He formulates, directs
and controls the acts and practices of said corporate respondent,
including the acts and practices hereinafter set forth. His business
address is the same as that of said corporate respondent.

Respondent Simeons Weight Clinics Foundation is a corporation
organized, existing and doing business under and by virtue of the laws
of the State of California, with its principal office and place of business
located at 7712 Densmore Ave., Van Nuys, California.

Respondents Robert Van Dine and J. William Byrd are officers of
said corporate respondent Simeons Weight Clinics Foundation. Their
business address is the same as that of said corporate respondent. Said
individual respondents and respondents Howell and Simeon Manage-
ment Corporation cooperate and act together to bring about the acts
and practices hereinafter set forth, including the operation of
numerous clinics known by the name Simeons Weight Clinics
Foundation located in the State of California, and by other names
located elsewhere in other States in the United States.

(B) Respondent Medical Weight Loss, Inc. is a corporation organized,
existing and doing business under and by virtue of the laws of the
State of California with its principal office and place of business
located at 1901 Avenue of the Stars, Suite 470, Los Angeles, California.

Respondent Darrel P. Simpson is an officer of Medical Weight Loss,
Inc. Said individual respondent formulates, directs and controls the
acts and practices of said corporate respondent, including the acts and
practices hereinafter set forth. His business address is the same as that
of said corporate respondent. He and respondent Medical Weight Loss,
Inc. cooperate and act together to bring about the acts and practices
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hereinafter set forth, including the operation of numerous clinics
known by the name Medical Weight Loss located in the State of
California and by the same name or other names located elsewhere in
other States in the United States.

(C) Respondent Bariatric Medical Clinics Management Corporation
is a corporation organized, existing and doing business under and by
virtue of the laws of the State of California, with its principal office
and place of business located at 560 Battery St., San Francisco,
California.

Respondent David L. Cunningham is an officer of Bariatric Medical
Clinics Management Corporation. Said individual respondent formu-
lates, directs and controls the acts and practices of said corporate
respondent, including the acts and practices hereinafter set forth. His
business address is 680 Beach St., San Francisco, California. He and
respondent Bariatric Medical Clinics Management Corporation cooper-
ate and act together to bring about the acts and practices hereinafter
set forth, including the operation of numerous clinics known by the
name Bariatric Medical Clinics located in the State of California.

(D) Respondent Harvey J. Lobelson is an individual trading and
doing business under the name of Weight Reduction Medical Clinie,
with his principal office and place of business located at 6505 Alvarado
Rd., San Diego, California, and with numerous other clinics known by
the same name located elsewhere in the State of California.

(E) Respondent C. M. Norcal, Inc. is a corporation organized, existing
and doing business under and by virtue of the laws of the State of
California, with its principal office and place of business located at 6
West Swain Rd., Stockton, California.

Respondent HCG Weight Clinics Foundation is a corporation
organized, existing and doing business under and by virtue of the laws
of the State of California, with its principal office and place of business
located at 6 West Swain Rd., Stockton, California.

Respondents Peter J. Marengo, I1I, and Joseph Costa are officers of
C. M. Norcal, Inc. and HCG Weight Clinics Foundation. Their business
address is the same as that of said corporate respondents. Said
individual respondents formulate, direct and control the acts and
practices of said corporate respondents, including the acts and
practices hereinafter set forth. They and said corporate respondents
cooperate and act together to bring about the acts and practices
hereinafter set forth, including the operation of numerous clinics
known by the name HCG Weight Clinics Foundation located in the
State of California.

Par. 2. Kach of the respondents is engaged in the business of
operating weight reduction clinies, and the advertising, offering for
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sale and sale of weight reduction treatments by said clinics, which
treatments are purported to produce significant loss of weight by
persons who desire to lose weight. Said treatments are sometimes
referred to as the “Simeon” method or “Simeons” method, and consist
of five or six daily injections per week of a prescription drug, human
chorionic gonadotropin (hereinafter referred to as HCG), which is a
hormone derived from the urine of pregnant women, and adherence to
a 5800 calorie diet daily, both for a period of about four to six weeks.
Said drug falls within the classification of “drug” as said term is
defined in the Federal Trade Commission Act.

Par. 8. In the course and conduct of their businesses as aforesaid,
each of the respondents has disseminated and caused the dissemination
of certain advertisements concerning the said reducing clinics and
treatments in newspapers which are distributed by United States mails
and by various means in commerce, as “commerce” is defined in the
Federal Trade Commission Act, for the purpose of inducing and which
are likely to induce, directly or indirectly, the purchase of said
treatments including the drug HCG.

PaRr. 4. Typical of such advertisements disseminated as aforesaid, but
not all inclusive thereof, are the following:
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Page 20—B.F Examiner %2 Wed.,. June 19,1974
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Par. 5. Through the use of the advertisements set forth in
Paragraph Four, and others similar thereto but not specifically set
forth herein, each of the respondents directly or indirectly invites and
induces persons seeking to lose weight to attend its respective clinics
and purchase its respective treatments to achieve this purpose. Said
advertising fails to disclose the following material facts to prospective
consumers:

1. The treatment offered by each respondent involves injections of
the drug HCG;

2. The drug HCG is not approved by the Food and Drug
Administration as safe and effective for the treatment of obesity or
weight control.

Therefore, each respondent’s advertisements were and are mislead-
ing in material respects and constituted, and now constitute “false
advertisements” as that term is defined in the Federal Trade
Commission Act; and the aforesaid advertisements were, and are,
false, misleading, deceptive and unfair.

PaRr. 6. The drug laws of the United States have been established by
Congress to protect consumers from being subjected to certain drugs
before such drugs have been approved by the Food and Drug
Administration as both safe and effective for specific uses. Each
respondent’s advertising, promotion and marketing has the capacity to
induce potentially large numbers of persons who desire to lose weight
to be subjected to its respective treatments. Said treatments include
numerous injections of the prescription drug HCG, which has not been
approved by the Food and Drug Administration as safe and effective
for the treatment of obesity or weight control, as provided for in the
Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act. Furthermore, the total cost of
said treatments to each patient is substantial. Therefore, each
respondent’s advertising, promotion and marketing of a costly
treatment which involves the use of a prescription drug prior to
approval by the Food and Drug Administration as both safe and
effective for its intended use is unfair.

Par. 7. The aforesaid acts and practices of respondents as herein
alleged, including the dissemination of “false advertisements,” were
and are all to the prejudice and injury of the public and constituted,
and now constitute, unfair or deceptive acts or practices in violation of
Sections 5 and 12 of the Federal Trade Commission Act.

216-969 O-LT - 77 - 76
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IniTiaL DecisioN BY JosepH P. DUFRESNE, ADMINISTRATIVE Law
JUDGE As TO J. WiLLiam Byrp, MepicaL WEeiGHT Loss, INC,,
AND DARREL P. SimMpsoN JaNuArYy 7, 1975

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

[2] In a complaint issued on October 15, 1974, in accord with its Rule
3.11, the Federal Trade Commission instituted a proceeding charging
respondents with false, misleading, deceptive and unfair advertising
for their weight reduction clinics where the “Simeon” or “Simeons”
Method is used.

In the complaint it was alleged (1) that the method includes
numerous injections of the prescription drug human chorionic gonado-
tropin (HCG) which has not been approved by the Food and Drug
Administration (FDA) as safe and effective for the treatment of
obesity or for weight control (complaint, Pars. Two and Six), and (2)
that the total cost of the treatments per patient is substantial
(complaint, Par. Six).

Therefore, it was alleged, it is unfair and violative of Sections 5 and
12 of the Federal Trade Commission Act (15 U.S.C. §§45 and 52) for
respondents to advertise, promote and market their method prior to
FDA approval of HCG as being both safe and effective for its use in
treating either obesity or weight control (complaint, Pars. Six and
Seven).

[3] Commission records show that respondent J. William Byrd
received a copy of the Complaint on November 21, 1974 (pp. 9 and 10,
transcript of prehearing conference). Respondents Medical Weight
Loss, Inc., and Darrel P. Simpson received their copies on October 21,
1974 (p. 8, transcript of prehearing conference). However, none of
these three respondents filed an answer to the complaint within the
thirty (80) days allowed under Commission Rule 4.3, nor have they
done so to date. The other respondents in this matter have filed
answers to the allegations.

The failure by the three respondents to file an answer constitutes a
waiver of their right to appear and contest the allegations. This is
noted in the notice section* of the complaint (pp. 6 and 7). The same
section also alerts respondents to the fact that failure to answer
authorizes the administrative law judge to find the facts as alleged and
to enter an initial decision (see also Commission Rule 3.12(c)).

On the basis of the allegations, it is clear that this proceeding is
concerned with risks to which members of the public are exposed,
particularly if they contract with respondents for obesity or weight

* Not reproduced herein.
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control treatments in accord with the Simeon Method. Such proceed-
ings are within the purview of Sections 12 and 18 of the Federal Trade
Commission Act (15 U.S.C. §§ 52 and 53) which, in pertinent part, have
to do with bringing an end, as promptly as possible, to the false
advertising of drugs; and HCG is a drug (complaint, Par. Two).

Consequently, I am of the opinion that my initial decision in this
matter, insofar as the three nonanswering respondents are concerned,
should be rendered as promptly as possible, consistent with their being
accorded due process. My view that the decision should be rendered as
promptly as possible is buttressed by the fact that the Commission
sought to obtain a preliminary injunction in the United States District
Court for the Northern District of California (C74-2226 WHO) to bring
an end to the offensive practices pending litigation of the allegations
made in the complaint.

[4] With regard to their rights to due process, deferral of the
rendition of this decision as to these three respondents until after the
prehearing conference, which none of the three attended, has accorded
them more than the right to due process requires. They have had ample
notice both of the charges and of their opportunity to contest them. 5
U.S.C. §554(b) and (c), (formerly the Administrative Procedure Act);
United States v. San Juan Lumber Co., Inc., 813 F. Supp. 703 (U.S.
Dist. Ct. Colo. - 1969); Goldberg v. Kelly, 397 U.S. 254 (1970); Golden
Grain Macaroni Company v. Federal Trade Commassion, 472 F.2d 882
(9th Cir. 1972), cert. denied, 412 U.S. 918 (1973).

Accordingly, complaint counsel’s motion that these three respon-
dents be declared in default and that an initial decision, conclusion and
order against them should issue, which motion was made to me at the
prehearing conference (p. 7, transcript of prehearing conference), is
granted. ,

Complaint counsel’s motion for a summary decision against respon-
dents Harvey J. Lobelson and Weight Reduction Clinic (p. 44,
transcript of prehearing conference) is denied because those respon-
dents have amended their answer to deny the key charge in Paragraph
Six of the complaint which formed the primary basis for that motion.

Any motions not heretofore or herein specifically ruled upon, either
directly or by the necessary effect of the conclusions in the initial
decision, are hereby denied. The findings of fact made herein are based
on the failure to answer, on a review of the allegations made in the
complaint and on an examination of the transcript of the prehearing
conference which was held in San Francisco on December 2, 1974,

In accord with Rule 8.12(c), the undersigned hereby makes the
following findings of fact, conclusions and order.
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FINDINGS OF FACT As To RESPONDENTS J. WiLLiAM BYRD,
MepicaL WEIGHT Loss, INC., AND DARREL P. SiMpsoN.

(1) Respondent J. William Byrd is, or when the complaint was filed
was, an officer of said corporate respondent Simeons Weight Clinics
Foundation. His business address is, [5] or was, the same as that of said
corporate respondent. Respondent J. William Byrd and respondents
John D. Howell and Simeon Management Corporation cooperated and
acted together to bring about the acts and practices hereinafter set
forth, including the operation of numerous clinics known by the name °
Simeons Weight Clinics Foundation located in the State of California,
and by other names located elsewhere in other States of the United
States.

Respondent Medical Weight Loss, Inc. is a corporation organized,
existing and doing business under and by virtue of the laws of the
State of California with its principal office and place of business
located at 1901 Avenue of the Stars, Suite 470, Los Angeles, California.

Respondent Darrel P. Simpson is an officer of Medical Weight Loss,
Inc. Said individual respondent formulates, directs and controls the
acts and practices of said corporate respondent, including the acts and
practices hereinafter set forth. His business address is the same as that
of said corporate respondent. He and respondent Medical Weight Loss,
Inc. cooperate and act together to bring about the acts and practices
hereinafter set forth, including the operation of numerous clinics
known by the name Medical Weight Loss located in the State of
California and by the same name or other names located elsewhere in
other States in the United States.

(2) Each of the respondents is, or was, engaged in the business of
operating weight reduction clinics and the advertising, offering for
sale and sale of weight reduction treatments by said clinics, which
treatments were and are purported to produce significant loss of
weight. Said treatments are sometimes referred to as the “Simeon” or
“Simeons” method, and include (a) five or six daily injections per week
of HCG, which is a hormone derived from the urine of pregnant
women, and (b) adherence to a 500 calorie diet daily, both for a period
of about four to six weeks. HCG falls within the classification of
“drug” as said term is defined in the Federal Trade Commission Act.

[6] (8) In the course and conduct of their business each of the three
respondents has disseminated and caused the dissemination of certain
advertisements concerning the said reducing clinics and treatments in
newspapers which are distributed by United States mails and by
various means in commerce, as “commerce” is defined in the Federal
Trade Commission Act, for the purpose of inducing and which are
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likely to induce, directly or indirectly, the purchase of said treatments

including the drug HCG.
(4) Typical of such advertisements, but not all inclusive thereof, are

the following:
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Page 205 F Examiner o Wed., June 19,1974
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the world's largest group of Doctor owned, Doctor
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[91 (5) Through the use of the advertisements set forth in Paragraph
Four, and others similar thereto but not specifically set forth herein,
each of the three respondents directly or indirectly invited and induced
persons seeking to lose weight to patronize their clinics and to purchase
the Simeon method of treatment. Said advertising, however, fails to
disclose the following material facts to prospective consumers:

1. The treatment offered by each of the three respondents involves
injections of the drug HCG;

2. The drug HCG is not approved by the Food and Drug
Administration as safe and effective for the treatment of obesity or
weight control.

Therefore, each of the three respondents’ advertisements were and
are misleading in material respects and constituted, and now constitute
“false advertisements” as that term is defined in the Federal Trade
Commission Act; and the aforesaid advertisements were, and are,
false, misleading, deceptive and unfair.

(6) The drug laws of the United States were established by Congress
to protect consumers from being subjected to certain drugs before such
drugs have been approved for specific uses. Each of the three
respondents’ advertising, promotion and marketing has the capacity to
induce potentially large numbers of persons who desire to lose weight
to purchase and undergo the three respondents’ respective treatments.
The treatments include numerous injections of the prescription drug
HCG, which has not been approved by the Food and Drug Administra-
tion as safe and effective for the treatment of obesity or weight
control, as provided for in the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act
(21 U.S.C. §321). Furthermore, the total cost of said treatments to each
patient is substantial. Therefore, each of the three respondents’
advertising, promotion and marketing of a costly treatment which
involves the injection into persons of a prescription drug prior to
approval by the Food and Drug Administration as both safe and
effective for its intended use is unfair.

[10] (7) The aforesaid acts and practices of the three respondents
including the dissemination of “false advertisements,” were and are all
 to the prejudice and injury of the public and constituted, and now
constitute, unfair or deceptive acts or practices in violation of Sections
5 and 12 of the Federal Trade Commission Act.

CONCLUSIONS

1. The Federal Trade Commission has jurisdiction of and over
respondents and the subject matter of this proceeding.

2. The complaint herein states a cause of action, and this
proceeding is in the public interest.
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3. The acts and practices charged in the complaint took place in
commerce as “commerce” is defined in the Federal Trade Commission
Act.

4. The three respondents have engaged in unfair or deceptive acts
and practices in commerce in that they have disseminated false and
misleading advertisements in violation of Sections 5 and 12(a) of the
Federal Trade Commission Act (15 U.S.C. §§45 and 52).

ORDER

1t is ordered, That respondents J. William Byrd, individually and as
an officer of Simeons Weight Clinics Foundation, a corporation,
Medical Weight Loss, Inc., a corporation, its successors and assigns and
its officers, and Darrel P. Simpson, individually and as an officer of
Medical Weight Loss, Inc., respondents’ agents, representatives and
employees, directly or through any corporation, subsidiary, division or
other device, in connection with the offering for sale, sale or
distribution of the “Simeon” or “Simeons” method for weight
reduction or of any other weight reducing service or treatment, do
forthwith cease and desist from:

[11] 1. Disseminating, or causing the dissemination of any advertise-
ment, by means of the United States mails, or by any means in
commerce, as “commerce” is defined in the Federal Trade Commission
Act, promoting any service or treatment which involves the use of
HCG or any other drug required under the Federal Food, Drug and
Cosmetic Act to be approved by the Food and Drug Administration
(FDA) as both safe and effective for the treatment of the conditions
for which it is to be used, until such drug has received the required
FDA approval.

2. Disseminating, or causing to be disseminated, by any means, for
the purpose of inducing, or which is likely to induce, directly or
indirectly, the purchase of any such weight reducing service or
treatment in commerce, as “commerce” is defined in the Federal Trade
Commission Act, any advertisement which fails to comply with the
requirements of paragraph 1 hereof.

It is further ordered, That each of the three respondents is to deliver
a copy of this order to cease and desist to all persons now engaged, or
who become engaged, in the management, [12] advertising, promotion,
or marketing of weight reducing treatments as their agents, salesmen,
representatives, or employees and to secure from each of said persons a
signed statement acknowledging receipt of a copy thereof.

It 1s further ordered, That the corporate respondent Medical Weight
Loss, Ine. is to notify the Commission at least thirty (30) days prior to
any proposed change in the corporate respondent, such as dissolution,
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assignment, or sale resulting in the emergence of a successor
corporation, the creation or dissolution of subsidiaries, licensees, or
franchisees, or any other change in the corporation which may affect
compliance obligations arising out of this order.

It is further ordered, That each of the individual respondents named
herein is to promptly notify the Commission of the discontinuance of
his present business or employment and of his affiliation with a new
business or employment. Such notice shall include his current business
address and a statement as to the nature of the business or
employment in which he is engaged as well as a description of his
duties and responsibilities. :

IniTiaL DEcisioNn By JosepH P. DUFRESNE, ADMINISTRATIVE Law
JUDGE JUNE 18, 1975

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

[2] In a complaint dated October 15, 1974, the Commission charged
respondents with violations of Sections 5 and 12 of the Federal Trade
Commission Act (15 U.S.C. §§45 and 52).

[3] The gravamen of the charges was that respondents’ advertising
in newspapers distributed by the United States mails and various other
means in commerce invited and induced persons seeking to lose weight
to attend their clinics and to purchase treatments without disclosing in
the advertising that the treatments used, 7.e., the Simeon or Simeons
method, involve injections of the drug, human chorionic gonadotropin
(HCG).

It also was alleged that HCG has not been approved by the Food and
Drug Administration (FDA) as safe and effective for the treatment of
obesity and weight control, that the advertisements were misleading in
material respects in that they failed to disclose lack of FDA approval,
constituted “false advertisements” and were, and are, misleading,
deceptive and unfair.

Lastly, it was alleged that it is unfair for respondents to promote
and market a costly treatment involving use of HCG—a prescription
drug—oprior to its approval by the Food and Drug Administration as
safe and effective for its intended use by respondents in treating
obesity and weight control.

After issuance of the complaint and prior to the start of the
adjudicative hearings on the charges, counsel for the Commission
sought a preliminary injunction in the United States District Court for
the Northern District of California (No. C-74-225 WHO) to enjoin,
pending the completion of the Commission proceedings, the dissemina-
tion by respondents of the advertisements alleged to be false and
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misleading. In a memorandum opinion dated March 11, 1975, the court
declined to issue the injunction.

Three of the respondents named in the Commission’s complaint (J.
William Byrd, individually and as an officer of Simeons Weight Clinics
Foundation; Medical Weight Loss, Inc.; and Darrel P. Simpson,
individually and as an officer of Medical Weight Loss, Inc.) did not
answer the complaint. Consequently, an initial decision predicated on
their default was filed by me on January 7, 1975, in accord with
Commission Rule 3.12(c). By order dated March 7, 1975, the Commis-
sion stayed the effective date of that initial decision until its further
order issues.

[4] The remaining respondents (.., those listed in the caption
hereof) answered in timely fashion. In addition to denying that they
were violating Sections 5 and 12 of the Federal Trade Commission Act,
various defenses were asserted. These defenses, in essence, were that:
(1) This matter lies within the jurisdiction of the Food and Drug
Administration rather than the Federal Trade Commission; (2) The
advertisements are not violative of Sections 12 and 15 of the F.T.C. Act
because (a) it is not customary or usual for a doctor to advertise the use
of HCG, (b) it is customary and usual for a doctor to use HCG for
weight control purposes, and (c) it is not customary to tell a patient
that HCG has approval for other purposes but not for weight control;
(3) California law precludes a finding of violation of the Federal Trade
Commission Act in that California’s Knox-Mills Act regarding prepaid
medical plans, under which respondents are registered, calls for
submittal of advertisements to the Attorney General of the State, and
prohibits their use if disapproved by him. Respondents’ advertisements
have not been disapproved; (4) The treatments are administered by
medical doctors and the Federal Trade Commission has no jurisdiction
to interfere with the doctor-patient relationship; (5) No “sale” of the
drug HCG takes place within the meaning of Section 12 of the F.T.C.
Act; (6) HCG is safe and not harmful as used by respondents; (7) A
substantial number of doctors in the United States have used HCG as
an integral part of their weight reduction programs for a substantial
period of time and the failure of the F.T.C. to challenge such use has
estopped the Commission “* * * from prosecuting this action based
on the doctrine of laches;” and (8) HCG is exempt from the new drug
requirements of the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act (FFDCA).
Each of these defenses is addressed below in this initial decision.

Complaint counsel and counsel for Norcal, et al., filed cross motions
for summary decision on January 27 and February 4, 1975, respective-
ly. These were denied by me on February 10, 1975. Complaint counsel’s
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request for reconsideration was also denied in an order issued on
February 21, 1975.

[6] Adjudicative hearings were held in San Francisco and Los
Angeles, California, on February 25, 26 and 27, and March 6 and 7,
1975, respectively. The record was closed for the reception of evidence
on March 24, 1975. Thereafter, in accord with Commission Rule 3.46,
proposed findings, conclusions and order, together with reasons and
briefs in support thereof were filed by the parties on May 9, 1975.

The findings of fact made herein are based on a review of the
allegations made in the complaint, respondents’ answers, stipulations
entered by counsel, written admissions by respondents, the evidentiary
record of this matter and upon consideration of the demeanor of the
witnesses at the hearings in this proceeding. In addition, the proposed
findings of fact, conclusions and order, together with reasons and
briefs in support thereof, which have been filed by the parties, have
been given careful consideration. To the extent not adopted by this
decision in the form proposed or in substance, they are rejected as not
supported by the record or as immaterial.

References to the record are intended to serve as guides to the
testimony, evidence and exhibits supporting the findings of fact. They
do not necessarily represent complete summaries of the evidence
considered in arriving at such findings. The following abbreviations
have been used:

CX — Commission’s Exhibit, followed by number of exhibit being
referenced.

RX — Respondents’ Exhibit, followed by number of exhibit being
referenced.

Tr. — Transcript, preceded by the name of the witness testifying
and followed by the page number being referenced. [6]

FinDINGS OF Fact

1. RESPONDENTS' IDF;NTITIES

(A) Respondent Simeon Management Corporation is a corporation
organized, existing and doing business under and by virtue of the laws
of the State of California, with its principal office and place of business
located at 7712 Densmore Ave., Van Nuys, California. The corporation
has not yet named officers and directors or issued stock.

Respondent John D. Howell is the principal investor in Simeon
Management Corporation. He formulates, directs and controls the acts
and practices of said corporate respondent, including the acts and
practices set forth in the complaint. His business address is the same as
that of said corporate respondent.



SIMEON MANAGEMENT CORP., ET AL. 1205

1184 Initial Decision

Respondent Simeons Weight Clinics Foundation is a corporation
organized, existing and doing business under and by virtue of the laws
of the State of California, with its principal office and place of business
located at 7712 Densmore Ave., Van Nuys, California.

Respondent Robert Van Dine is an officer of corporate respondent
Simeons Weight Clinics Foundation. His business address is the same
as that of said corporate respondent. He and respondents Howell and
Simeon Management Corporation cooperate and act together to bring
about the acts and practices set forth in the complaint, including the
operation of numerous clinics known by the name Simeons Weight
Clinies Foundation located in the State of California, and by other
names located elsewhere in other States in the United States. (All the
findings in (A) were admitted since these facts were set forth in the
complaint but Simeon did not address them in its answer. See
Commission Rule 3.12(b)(1)(ii).)

[7] (B) Respondent Bariatric Medical Clinics Management Corpora-
tion (Bariatric) is a corporation organized, existing and doing business
under and by virtue of the laws of the State of California, with its
principal office and place of business located at 560 Battery St., San
Francisco, California.

Respondent David L. Cunningham is an officer of Bariatric Medical
Clinics Management Corporation. He formulates, directs and controls
the acts and practices of said corporate respondent, including the acts
and practices set forth in the complaint (Cunningham, Tr. 102);
however, he does not personally engage in any practices that may be
regarded as medical treatment (Bariatric Answer p. 2; Cunningham,
Tr. 108). His business address is 680 Beach St., San Francisco,
California. He and respondent Bariatric cooperate and act together to
bring about the acts and practices set forth in the complaint, including
the operation of numerous clinics known by the name Bariatric
Medical Clinics located in the State of California (Bariatric Answer, p.
2; Cunningham, Tr. 102).

(C) Respondent Harvey J. Lobelson (Lobelson) is an individual
trading and doing business under the name of Weight Reduction
Medical Clinic, with his principal office and place of business located at
6505 Alvarado Rd., San Diego, California. He also operates numerous
other clinics known by the same name located elsewhere in the State of
California (Lobelson Answer, p. 1).

(D) Respondent C. M. Norcal, Inc. (Norcal) is a corporation
organized, existing and doing business under and by virtue of the laws
of the State of California, with its principal office and place of business
located at 6 West Swain Rd., Stockton, California (Norcal Answer, p.
2).
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[8] Respondent HCG Weight Clinics Foundation is a corporation
organized, existing and doing business under and by virtue of the laws
of the State of California, with its principal office and place of business
located at 6 West Swain Rd., Stockton, California (Norcal Answer, p.
2).

Respondents Peter J. Marengo, III, and Joseph Costa are officers of
C. M. Noreal, Inc. and HCG Weight Clinics Foundation. Their business
address is the same as that of said corporate respondents (Norcal
Answer, p. 2).

Other than those activities related to the doctor-patient relationship
(Norcal Answer, p. 2), the individual respondents Marengo and Costa
formulate, direct and control the acts and practices set forth in the
complaint. These include the operation of numerous clinics known by
the name HCG Weight Clinics Foundation located in the State of
California (Norcal Answer, p. 2).

2. RESPONDENTS' ACTIVITIES

(A) Each of the respondents is involved in the business of operating
weight reduction clinics, and in the advertising, offering for sale and
sale of weight reduction treatments by the clinics, which treatments
are designed to produce significant loss of weight through use of the
Simeon or Simeons method (complaint Par. 2, respondents Simeon, et
al. Answer, Commission Rule 3.12(b)(1)(ii); Cunningham, Tr. 102, 108,
110-111; Lobelson Answer, pp. 1-2; Norcal Answer, p. 2).

(B) Respondents’ weight reduction treatments are not unreasonably
“costly.” Their cost is comparable to physicians’ charges for office
visits for medical attention of various types including other weight
reduction treatments (Parker, Tr. 658-659; Polsky, Tr. 669-670).

Simeons Clinics charge patients anywhere from $188 to $368 or more
per set of treatments (Simeon Stipulations #4). HCG Weight Clinics
charge from $195 to $395 or more, with the average cost having been
calculated to be $302 (Norcal Stipulations #4). Weight Reduction
Medical Clinic’s charges to patients are $170 for 23-shot treatments
and $240 for 40-shot treatments (Lobelson Requests for Admissions
and Responses #4). Bariatric’s clinics charge $165-$170 per set of six-
week treatments (Tr. p. 98). [9]

3. THE SIMEON(S) METHOD (cx’s 1-3)

The “Simeon” or “Simeons” method is followed in the treatments
respondents advertise. That method includes five or six injections per
week, one injection per visit, for from four to six weeks, of human
chorionic gonadotropin (HCG), a prescription drug. HCG is a hormone
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derived from the urine of pregnant women and is a “drug” as that
term is defined in the Federal Trade Commission Act (15 U.S.C.
§55(c)). The method also calls for adherence to a 500 calorie a day diet
(CX 22; Respondents Simeon, et al. Answer, Commission Rule
3.12(b)(1)(ii); Bariatric et al. Answer, p. 2; Lobelson et al. Answer, p- 2;
Norcal Answer, p. 2).

(Note: Pursuant to Commission Rule 3.15, in order to make it clear
that the Simeon(s) method is not limited absolutely merely to five or
six injections per week, on a daily basis, of HCG, and a 500 calorie a
day diet, both for a period of about four to six weeks, at a prehearing
conference on December 2, 1974, the words “consist of” were deleted
and “include” was substituted in paragraph two of the complaint with
the agreement of both sides (Tr. 31-35).)

4. THE COMMISSION’S JURISDICTION

Each of the respondents has disseminated and caused the dissemina-
tion of advertisements concerning the reducing clinics and treatments
(admitted in each respondent’s Answer). These have appeared in
newspapers of intra and interstate circulation. In addition, each
respondent except Bariatric has advertised on television (Simeon
Stipulation, Norcal Stipulation and Lobelson Stipulation).

[10] The newspapers in which their advertisements were placed have
interstate circulations, e.g., The San Francisco Chronicle, The Los
Angeles Times and The Sacramento Bee (Simeon, Lobelson and Norcal
Stipulations and/or Admissions). Similarly, the television stations over
which each but Bariatric advertised are interstate in range.

In addition, respondents, in the course of operating the weight
reduction clinics, purchase HCG from drug manufacturers located
throughout the United States and have it shipped to their receiving
points for distribution to the clinics at which it is injected into persons
who have subscribed for the course of treatments. Therefore,
respondents are “in commerce” within the meaning of the Federal
Trade Commission Act (Marengo, Tr. 397-398).

5. ADVERTISEMENTS USED

Typical advertisements each of the respondents has disseminated
follow on pages 10a-10d. Each of the advertisements was disseminated
by a different respondent; however, they are sufficiently alike in their
representations and omissions to be considered and discussed together
(see page 11, infra).
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[11] The impression conveyed by respondents’ advertisements is that
the weight reduction plan offered involves doctors using a method
whereby those taking the treatments will lose weight. The advertise-
ments are an inducement to subscribe to the regimen offered but no
information is given as to its specifics.

Each of the advertisements reproduced above, as well as others in
the record, fails to disclose the material facts that:

(1) the treatments offered by each respondent involve injections of
the drug HCG; or that

(2) HCG is not approved by the Food and Drug Administration as
safe and effective for the treatment of obesity or weight control. (See
Simeon Stipulations, Exhibits A and B, Norcal Stipulations A, Band C
(RX 3), Lobelson Responses to Requests for Admissions #5 (Exhibit A)
and CX 17a-17m (Bariatric).)

6. EFFECT OF THE ADVERTISEMENTS

(A) By use of such advertisements, and others, each of the
respondents directly or indirectly invites persons to attend its clinics
and to purchase treatments in order to lose weight. (Simeon stipulated
it advertised in newspapers and on television, and as noted before,
admitted (par. 5, above) disseminating the advertisements reproduced
on page 10a hereof. Admitted by Bariatrie, et al., Commission Rule
3.12(b)(1)(ii); Lobelson Answer, par. 5, p. 3; Norcal Answer, par. 5, p. 8.)

(B) Each respondent’s advertising, promotion and marketing effort
has the capacity to induce potentially large numbers of persons who
desire to lose weight to purchase its respective treatments.

[12] (C) Each respondent’s advertising, promotion and marketing of
a treatment which involves the injection of HCG prior to its approval
by the Food and Drug Administration as being both safe and effective
is unfair to rivals of respondents who offer other methods, devices or
texts for the purpose of losing weight.

Discussion

JURISDICTION

Respondents have at all times relevant hereto been engaged in
interstate commerce within the intent and meaning of Sections 4 and 5
of the Federal Trade Commission Act. (See Findings, pp. 9-11 above,
regarding newspaper advertisements and interstate shipments.)

The Commission’s jurisdiction over the advertising of treatments or
services as well as products under Section 5 is clearly established under
existing case law. Abel Allan Goodman v. Federal Trade Commaission,
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244 F.2d 584 (9th Cir. 1957); Federal Trade Commaission v. Civil Service
Training Bureau, Inc., 79 F.2d 118 (6th Cir. 1935).

It is sufficient for establishing the “in commerce” jurisdictional
requirement of Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act, if the
advertisements of the respondents have been disseminated interstate.
Intent to attract out-of-State customers is not necessary. Jurisdiction
under Section 12 of the F.T.C. Act exists if the U.S. mails have been
used by respondents in the dissemination of their advertisements. John
A. Guziak v. Federal Trade Commission, 361 F.2d 700 (8th Cir. 1966);
S. Klein Dept. Stores, Inc., Dkt. 7891, 57 F.T.C. 1543, 1544 (1960)
Interlocutory Order; Surrey Sleep Products, 73 FTC 523, 558-554
(1968); Sidney J. Mueller v. United States, 262 F.2d 443, 446-448 (5th
Cir. 1958); Kenneth W. Shafe, et al. v. Federal Trade Commission, 256
F.2d 661 (6th Cir. 1958). (Note: The “in commerce” jurisdictional
requirements of Sections 5 and 12 of the F.T.C. Act were changed to
“in or affecting commerce” in essence by the Magnuson-Moss
Warranty— Federal Trade Commission Improvement Act (88 Stat.
2193— Jan. 4, 1975), some months after instant complaint issued.)

[13] All the acts and practices which were and are part of the mode
of operation of respondents in effecting the sale of treatments for the
purpose of losing weight were methods of competition or acts and
practices in commerce within the purview of the Federal Trade
Commission Act. Standard Oil Co. v. Federal Trade Commission, 340
U.S. 231, 236-238 ('1th Cir. 1951); Holland Furnace Company v. Federal
Trade Commission, 269 F.2d 203 (Tth Cir. 1959), cert. denied, 861 U.S.
932; John A. Guziak v. Federal Trade Commission, supra, United
States v. South- Eastern Underwriters Association et al., 322 U.S. 533,
549-553 (1944).

F.T.C. and FDA Responsibilities

The determinations as to (1) whether HCG is a new drug, and (2)
whether HCG is safe and effective, insofar as its use for treating
obesity and weight control are concerned, are for the Food and Drug
Administration to make. That, however, does not deprive the Federal
Trade Commission of its authority to take action to bring an end to
false, misleading, deceptive or unfair advertising or unfair trade
practices used in connection with the offering of treatments involving
the administration of HCG to ultimate consumers of the drug.

Except for jurisdictional exclusions not pertinent here (see Sec.
5(a)(6) of the F.T.C. Act), Sections 5 and 12 of the F.T.C. Act (15 U.S.C.
§§45 and 52) authorize the Commission to initiate proceedings to bring
an end to any unfair method of competition or unfair or deceptive act
or practice in commerce when it is to the interest of the public to do so.



1214 FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION DECISIONS

Initial Decision 87 F.T.C.

The Food and Drug Administration operates primarily pursuant to
authority contained in the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act
(FFDCA) which deals with the introduction and delivery for introduc-
tion into interstate commerce of foods, drugs and cosmetics by
manufacturers, packers and distributors (21 U.S.C. §331).

[14] Since there was no indication prior to the initiation of these
proceedings, or since, that respondents state anything specifically
about HCG in their advertising, the Food and Drug Administration
determined respondents’ advertising is not subject to FDA regulation
(Dr. Temple, Tr. 152-158). Moreover, there is no evidence to suggest
that respondents are manufacturers or distributors; and FDA correc-
tive actions focus on violations of the FFDCA by manufacturers or
distributors (Dr. Temple, Tr. 164).

To avoid duplication or overlapping of their regulatory functions,
the Food and Drug Administration and the Federal Trade Commission
have entered into a Liaison Agreement (Trade Reg. Rep. 19850 and
99851; 36 F.R. 18539, September 16, 1971; also see F.T.C. Rules of
Practice Section 4.6). By its terms, the FDA has primary responsibility
with respect to the regulation of the truth or falsity of prescription
drug advertising. However, even if respondents’ practices in some
respects were clearly within the FDA’s power to challenge, there is
ample precedent for the proposition that the Food and Drug
Administration and the Federal Trade Commission may assert
jurisdiction concurrently in their respective areas of responsibility.

The Federal Trade Commission’s responsibility is to bring an end to
false or misleading advertising or to those trade practices which are
unfair. The representations of and the advertising of the medicinal
qualities or properties of HCG itself would be primarily within the
purview of the FDA’s responsibilities. United States v. Research
Laboratories, Inc., 126 F.2d 42, 45 (9th Cir., 1942), cert. denied, 317 U.S.
656, United States v. Various Quantities of Articles of Drug Labeled in
Part: "Instant Alberty Food * * *)” etc., 83 F. Supp. 882, 887 (D.D.C.,
1949).

The Commission’s jurisdiction and power to enforce the F.T.C. Act
has been consistently sustained against challenges that statutes
enforced by other agencies should be construed to preclude such
jurisdiction. Federal Trade Commission v. Cement Institute, et al., 333
U.S. 683 (7th Cir. 1948); [156] Charles of the Ritz Distributors
Corporation v. Federal Trade Commission, 143 F.2d 676, 679 (2d Cir.
1944); Irwin et al. v. Federal Trade Commission, 143 F.2d 316, 325 (8th
Cir. 1944); Waltham Watch Company et al. v. Federal Trade
Commission, 318 F.2d 28, 31-32 (7th Cir. 1963), cert. denied, 375 U.S.
944; Carl Brandenfels v. J. Edward Day, Postraster General et al., 316
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F.2d 875, 378 (D.C. Cir. 1963), cert. denied, 375 U.S. 824; American
Cyanamid Co.v. Federal Trade Commission, 363 F.2d 757, 769 (6th Cir.
1966), 401 F.2d 574 (6th Cir. 1968), cert. denied, 394 U.S. 920 (1969).

U.S. Drug Laws

The drug laws of the United States, and the Federal Food, Drug and
Cosmetic Aect in particular, were enacted by the Congress to protect
consumers from being subjected to certain drugs before the drugs had
been approved by the Food and Drug Administration as both safe and
effective for specific use.

Senate Report 1744, p. 8, 87th Cong. 2nd Sess. (1962) makes it clear
that this, in fact, was the Congressional purpose:

The purpose of the proposed legislation, as amended, is to strengthen and broaden
existing laws in the drug field so as to bring about better, safer medicine and to establish
a more effective system of enforcement of the drug laws.

The amended bill would help assure a safer and more reliable drug supply for the
Nation by requiring registration of all prescription drug manufacturers and more
effective inspection of their plants to determine whether such drugs are being
manufactured in accordance with the law. In addition, the bill requires the installation
and maintenance of acceptable drug manufacturing and control procedures and a pre-
marketing showing that all new drugs are effective—as well as safe— for their intended
uses.

* * * * * * *

In short, the purpose of this bill, as amended, is to strengthen the laws designed to
keep unfit drugs [16] off the market in the first instance and speed their removal should
they reach the market.

And from page 16 of the Report:

*+ * * the Committee wants to make sure that safe new drugs become available for
use by the medical profession so long as they are supported as to effectiveness by a
responsible body of opinion.

As described by the FDA:

The major objective of the drug provisions of the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic
Act is to assure that drugs will be safe and effective for use under the conditions of use
prescribed, recommended, or suggested in the labeling thereof. Thus, new drug approval
and antibiotic drug certification are regulated by law, both in the prescriber’s and the
patient’s interest.

* * * * * . * *

Thus although it is clear that Congress did not intend the Food and Drug
Administration to regulate or interfere with the practice of medicine, it is equally clear
that it did intend that the Food and Drug Administration determine those drugs for
which there exists substantial evidence of safety and effectiveness and thus will be






